





# **Final report**

# **Trees on Farm: A Tool for Decision-Making**

Project code:P.PSH.1277

Prepared by:

Dr Rachelle Meyer University of Melbourne

Date published:20 December 2021

PUBLISHED BY Meat & Livestock Australia Limited PO Box 1961 NORTH SYDNEY NSW 2059

This is an MLA Donor Company funded project.

Meat & Livestock Australia acknowledges the matching funds provided by the Australian Government to support the research and development detailed in this publication.

This publication is published by Meat & Livestock Australia Limited ABN 39 081 678 364 (MLA). Care is taken to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this publication. However MLA cannot accept responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the information or opinions contained in the publication. You should make your own enquiries before making decisions concerning your interests. Reproduction in whole or in part of this publication is prohibited without prior written consent of MLA.

#### Abstract

This project aimed to address information gaps regarding the co-benefits trees provide to farming systems and to assist farmers in accessing this information and incorporating it into on-farm decisions. Farmers, consultants, and extension officers were the primary audience for a database of co-benefit information and supporting a decision tool. An existing decision matrix was used for the decision tool and two interviews with farmers near Hamilton provided examples to support the use of the tool. The decisions included critical factors related to both environmental and timber plantings. The companion database includes information on the co-benefits of incorporating trees on farms derived from over 90 publications. This project has consolidated information on the co-benefits of trees on farms and has provided real world examples of how to incorporate this information into decision making about planting trees on farms. The database will ease production of informative communications addressing co-benefits. Recommended future work, particularly around expanding the scope of the decision support tool, will be incorporated into Module 4 of the Carbon Storage Partnership.

# **Executive summary**

#### Background

This work aims to address information gaps regarding the co-benefits trees provide to farm systems and assist farmers in accessing this information and incorporating it into on-farm decisions. Given this objective, farmers and consultants are the primary audience. The results can be used by consultants, extension officers, and interested farmers to find data and apply it to on farm decisions. Additionally, they will form the beginning phases in a broader decision framework that is a deliverable of Module 4 of the Carbon Storage Partnership, *Trees on Farm: Maximising co-benefits*.

#### Objectives

- Develop a decision-matrix template to guide farms in planting trees on farms in two areas in South East Australia.
- Develop a database of key research on co-benefits and risks of planting trees on farms.
- Provide information to support the use of the decision matrix template for the decisions to establish a timber plantation or environmental plantings in two livestock systems each.

#### Methodology

This project adopted an existing decision matrix for the decision tool and developed information to support the use of this process for tree-related decisions through farmer interviews. The database was primarily a literature review, including a protocol for what literature to include in the database and fields that would be populated based on the contents of each article.

#### **Results/key findings**

The decision matrix was applied to two farms near Hamilton, Victoria. The decisions include critical factors related to both environmental and timber plantings. The initial version of the database includes co-benefit information for over 90 publications. This allows interested users to access a substantial amount of information in one place and eases production of factsheets and other material on the co-benefits of incorporating trees on farm.

#### **Benefits to industry**

This project has consolidated information on the productivity and carbon co-benefits of trees on farm along with data on other co-benefits in one place. It has also provided support for incorporating this information into decision making including development of example decision matrices for two farms.

#### Future research and recommendations

Recommended future work should largely be incorporated into Phase 2 of this project. Additional literature can be added to the database as other updates are made to the database including developing a user-friendly front end. A Tasmanian example of the decision matrix will be completed by February 2022. Lastly, a broader decision framework to guide farmers is already planned.

# Table of contents

Execu	utive s	ummary	3
1.	Background5		
2.	Objectives		
3.	Methodology		
	3.1	Decision matrix development	6
	3.2	Literature review	6
	3.3	Database development	7
4.	Resul	lts	8
	4.1	Decision matrix	8
	4.2	Database	8
5.	Conclusion		
	5.1	Key findings	.10
	5.2	Benefits to industry	.11
6.	Future research and recommendations11		
7.	References11		
8. Appendix		ndix	.12
	8.1	Decision matrix instruction materials	.12
	8.2	Literature included in the initial version of the database	.14
	8.3	Example Decision Matrices	.20

# 1. Background

The benefits of having trees on farm are well established. Integrating trees within productive agricultural enterprises can increase carbon stocks to offset on-farm emissions and provide financial, social, and environmental co-benefits for the farm operation. However, multiple factors deter farmers from integrating trees on their land, including a lack of capacity, the administrative costs and complexity of receiving carbon payments, the difficulties associated with incorporating multiple types of information with varying importance into the decision-making process, and a lack of applicable and accessible information regarding the co-benefits of trees on farms. Available information quantifying these benefits is not easily accessed or incorporated into on-farm decision making.

This project aimed to address this lack of knowledge transfer in two phases. This report describes the activities that addressed Phase 1. These deliverables focus on developing a decision matrix template supported by a database that will allow consultants, extension officers, and farmers to access estimates of various productivity and environmental benefits of planting trees and incorporate them into farm planning decisions. This differs from currently available tools that assist with decision making in at least two important ways; it incorporates all factors a farmer considers critical to establishing trees on-farm so they can be considered simultaneously, and it includes a weighting system that allows farmers to give greater value to factors most important for their situation, priorities, and comfort with risk.

Providing the best available science in an easy-to-access format and a framework to incorporate information into farm planning will reduce uncertainties associated with establishing trees on farm, which will likely lead to greater incorporation of trees into farming systems, lower net farm greenhouse gas emissions and greater farm resilience. The database and templates will be provided to the project stakeholders as well as being made available on the PICCC website.

# 2. Objectives

- 1. Develop a decision-matrix template to guide farms in planting trees on farms in two areas in South East Australia.
- 2. Develop a database of key research on co-benefits and risks of planting trees on farms.
- 3. Provide information to support the use of the decision matrix template for the decisions to establish a timber plantation or environmental plantings in two livestock systems each.

For objectives 1 and 3, we have developed a decision matrix to guide tree planting with substantial amounts of information to support its use. Support for the use of the decision matrix includes a video and an online decision wizard developed for the use of decision matrices generally and examples of decision matrix applied to trees on farm decisions involving both timber and environmental plantings. The examples are based on two farms, both from near Hamilton, Victoria. We will continue to advertise for participation of Tasmanian farmers until the final report to the Tasmanian Climate Change Office is submitted. At least one example decision matrix resulting from a currently planned interview with a Tasmanian farmer in February will be incorporated into Phase 2 of this project, Module 4 of the Carbon Storage Partnership, *Trees on Farm: Maximising Co-benefits*. There is also a list of potential critical factors to assist farmers in developing their own matrix for tree decisions.

A database of co-benefits and risks of planting trees has been developed. From a total of 1,134 publications, 97 articles will be in the initial published version of the database including data on co-

benefits such as productivity, carbon, water, soil, and biodiversity. Summaries of the results of the database will be published in industry publications. Over 700 of the search results were eliminated due to not meeting the criteria and about 30 could not be obtained. Due to time constraints, peer-reviewed articles with information on productivity co-benefits or carbon sequestration were prioritised. Details of this decision are addressed in the methodology (Section 3.2) and results (Section 4.2) sections. Remaining articles will be entered into the database along with ongoing updates including developing a user-friendly front end and addition of new scientific literature and data received from farmers during Phase 2 of this project.

# 3. Methodology

## 3.1 Decision matrix development

Decision matrices were based on the framework designed by Cam Nicholson and described as a decision analysis matrix in the GRDC publication *Farm Decision Making: The interaction of personality, farm business and risk to make more informed decisions* (Nicolson et al, 2015). This framework is flexible enough that it can be applied to specific tree planting decisions on any farm. The matrix can be tailored to the specific decision and circumstance, including differing farmer priorities and comfort with risk. An instructional video for using this method is available at: (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nsMa2VtnONU). Critical factors and the instructions for applying the decision matrix to tree related decisions are included in Appendix 8.1.

Interviews were conducted with two farmers from the Hamilton area to develop examples of applying the decision matrix to tree-related decisions. The entire interview consisted of working through the process described in Appendix 8.1 for decisions the participant would realistically consider for their farm. No commitment to follow through with the decision result was required to participate. Both volunteers have previous experience making tree-related decisions on farm. This allowed the developed decision matrix to be tested on historic examples as well as potential future plantings.

The variety of decisions farmers may want to make about trees on their farm, the variability in farmer knowledge, as well as the complexity of these decisions necessitates a broader framework that the decision matrix will sit within. The development of this broader framework is underway and will be incorporated into Phase 2 of this project (Module 4 of the Carbon Storage Partnership). Follow ups with farmers that participated in the decision matrix interviews as well as the interviews and focus groups that are part of Phase 2 will allow for this broader tool to be developed in consultation with farmers. Given the early stage of development many of the details are still unknown, but this framework will incorporate factors such as ease of use, type of farming system, peer recommendation between farmers, and, potentially, be tailored to MLA farmer segments.

## 3.2 Literature review

A broad review of the literature was undertaken to populate a database with published information on values for critical factors. The scope is trees on farms (remnant woody vegetation and planted trees) within livestock systems, including mixed cropping-livestock and dairy, in the Temperate Cool Season Wet, Mediterranean, and temperate sub-humid agroecological zones. This included data from Tasmania, Victoria, southern New South Wales, south west Western Australia, southern South Australia, and New Zealand. The keywords included in the search of Web of Science and Scopus were:

(Australia OR "New Zealand") AND ("Temperate cool season wet" OR "Temperate winter rainfall" OR Mediterranean OR Tasmania OR Victoria OR "New South Wales" OR "South Australia" OR "Western Australia") AND (Farm OR Agricultur\*) AND (Tree OR Forest OR Timber OR "Environmental planting" OR Landcare) AND (Shade OR Wind OR shelter OR pasture OR welfare OR biodiversity OR carbon OR soil OR "water quality" OR salinity OR "market access" OR "fire risk" OR pest OR fence OR cost OR expens\* OR weed OR price OR Agroforest\* OR "Socio-economic")

Literature from collaborators and new research highlighted by a search alert based on the keyword search will be considered for inclusion into the database until its finalisation in January. This is subject to the new prioritisation of peer-reviewed articles on productivity and carbon co-benefits. Sources of data were also obtained from relevant literature cited in articles, sources found through various resources for trees on farm, and recommended citations.

A protocol was developed to ensure uniform standards for inclusion into the database. Articles excluded from the database include those that are outside the geographic region, do not address benefits or risks of trees, focus on the impacts of agriculture on forest ecosystems, or use only modelled data, not on-farm data. Reviews are useful for finding new citations but are not included in the database.

Due to the large amount of literature that resulted from this search and time constraints the focus was shifted to productivity and carbon sequestration benefits of trees for the initial published version of the database. Much of the literature that was excluded based on this criterion was focused on biodiversity or water availability or quality including issues of salinity. It is intended that this data will be incorporated into the database in the first half of 2022 as part of the ongoing updating of the database in Phase 2. The list of citations that are included in this version of the database are listed in Appendix 8.2.

## 3.3 Database development

The database has been developed in Excel and is searchable for many characteristics of farms and decisions, such as state, region, system, major planting objectives, type, and general location of planting (e.g. paddock boundary, paddock trees, riparian zone, etc). These searches return values for all factors in the database that come from articles that report information for the targeted region, system, planting type, etc. Alternatively, searching for values for a particular co-benefit will report values for that benefit across regions, systems, etc.

Articles that met the criteria for inclusion in the database were searched for information based on the contents of their abstract or executive summary. The information that the article contained that addressed variables in the field list were recorded.

An Excel form eases data entry, increases consistency of entries, and reduces data entry errors. The testing of this form was paired with updating of the data fields. Each piece of information on cobenefits or disadvantages included in the database includes a page and paragraph number (e.g., p5#3) to ensure the information can be found again quickly. At completion of the literature survey 50 data points were chosen randomly to ensure the data is accurately recorded in the database. This marked finalisation of the first version of the database for publication. The first Excel sheet of the database is a tutorial to ease navigation and use, that includes directions on filtering. This allows users with limited Excel experience to get the most out of the database. The Excel version is included as a supplement to this report and will be publicly available at the PICCC and Trees on Farm websites by mid-January 2022. This version has been discussed in two webinars, one for AgVic staff and the Climate and Energy College public webinar. A student from Data Science Department will be designing a web-based front end to increase accessibility. This work is intended for Semester 1 of 2022. Further opportunities to publicize the database will be identified in the first half of 2022. This includes developing summaries of database findings on specific co-benefits for industry focused publications and forums.

## 4. Results

## 4.1 Decision matrix

Instructions were developed for using the decision matrix (Appendix 8.1). This includes a list of potential critical factors and links to supporting resources including a video and website. The major contribution of this project was to provide two examples of using this method for systems near Hamilton in southwest Victoria (Appendix 8.3). The examples are available in the decision matrix library at <a href="https://decisionwizard.sfs.org.au/matrices#/dashboard">https://decisionwizard.sfs.org.au/matrices#/dashboard</a> and will be made available at the <a href="https://decisionwizard.sfs.org.au/matrices#/dashboard">PICCC</a> and Trees on Farm websites.

In both interviews the farmers chose to define the tree-related decision in terms of planting at a specific location and both considered plantings that would serve multiple potential uses including increasing productivity and providing environmental benefits. For the first farmer, this also included potential to supply income from timber. The decision matrix process clarified priorities and allowed for comparison with previous plantings. The farmer from the first example was able to compare the scores of potential plantings to scores of a project he is quite satisfied with and another he would not do again. This increased confidence that plans that he has been considering will be viewed positively in the future. The process was flexible enough to allow for differing priorities and comfort with risk. For instance, the second farmer included the mental effort required, carbon sequestration, and fire risk while the first farmer had greater focus on impacts on farm logistics. Both farmers remained with the default risk amount, with the decision changing at about 70% of the maximum score.

These examples demonstrate the flexibility of the decision matrix process to inform tree planting decision for different farmers and farming systems. Additionally, the decision matrix has been designed so that new information, such as that provided in the database, can be readily incorporated into decisions. For instance, the second decision matrix illustrated how information relevant to the balance between carbon sequestration and biodiversity could assist this farmer with planting decisions. We are currently recruiting volunteers to try the process in Tasmania and will be conducting at least one interview with a Tasmanian farmer early in 2022.

## 4.2 Database

The initial published version of the database includes information on the co-benefits and trade-offs of trees in farming systems from 97 publications (Appendix 8.2). The breakout of topics covered by these articles is shown in Figure 1. Publications on productivity and carbon benefits prioritised in the literature review were nearly 50% of the articles in the database. Other topics include those related

to water availability and quality, biodiversity, timber production, soil impacts, animal welfare and property aesthetics. It should be noted several publications are counted in more than one topic area.



Figure 1: The percentage of articles included in the database that address various co-benefits and trade-offs.

The literature demonstrates increases in pasture production with shelterbelts and decreases with agroforestry plantings. A search of the literature on effects of shelter on pasture production at the farm level or entire paddock area range from 6.5% to 16%. No studies reported a decrease in pasture production even when including the area of the shelterbelt that is no longer pasture. Reductions in pasture productions with agroforestry plantings were influenced by density and age. Figure 2 shows reductions in pasture production with increasing density. An experiment that included tree densities of over 1000 stems/ha in blocks produced essentially no pasture after 6 years (Bird et al., 2010). Comprehensive studies of the costs and benefits of agroforestry and effective ways to integrate forestry into farming systems are lacking.





Most of the available literature on the impacts of trees on livestock focus on sheep carrying capacity and wool production. Much of this information is from agroforestry systems and follows the same

general trends as pasture production. In the case of shelter plantings, reductions in mortality were reported and in one case increases in carrying capacity due to improvements to pasture production in salt affected areas (Campbell, 1991). Very little information was available on the effect of trees on Australian beef or dairy cattle.

Carbon sequestration rate varied from 3.6 to  $35.1 \text{ t } \text{CO}_2\text{e}/\text{ha}/\text{year}$ , with several factors influencing the variability. The lowest sequestration rates (3.6-4.5 t  $\text{CO}_2\text{e}/\text{ha}/\text{year}$ ) occurred at a degraded site with the least rainfall (476 mm). This included estimates from several species (Harper et al 2012). Studies examining *Pinus radiata* showed little variation in sequestration rate (22.3 - 23.9 t  $\text{CO}_2\text{e}/\text{ha}/\text{year}$ ) although they occurred on sites with 525 - 1000 mm of rainfall. The site with the greatest sequestration receives 700 mm of rainfall each year on average. The site included 49 ha of *Eucalyptus nitens*, 16 ha of *Pinus radiata*, and 4 ha of mixed native trees (Hall, 2010).

There were approximately 300 articles that likely met the original criteria but were not included in the initial published version of the database. Most of these addressed biodiversity, water, soil, or timber co-benefits. Others were not peer-reviewed. These publications will be reviewed and entered in the database in the first half of 2022 if they are judged to provide useful additional information. An update to the database in 2022 will include a user-friendly front end and any relevant information from new publications and farmer data collected during interviews.

Of a total of 1134 articles found in the literature search, approximately 700 articles did not meet the criteria for inclusion into the database and 29 publications could not be obtained due to insufficient information on the source, obscurity of the publication, dead links, or similar issues.

# 5. Conclusion

This project has consolidated useful information and provided a system of incorporating relevant information into decisions about integrating trees on farm. In addition to providing specific information to advisors and farmers proficient with Excel, the database will serve as a resource for developing summaries of co-benefits for a wide audience. These outputs are particularly relevant to the Australian Red Meat Industry's Carbon Neutral by 2030 (CN30) goal. The need for a more generalised resource for decision making was clear early in the project. The results from this project will form the basis of a broader framework with wider application. This work will be done as part of Module 4 of the Carbon Storage partnership.

## 5.1 Key findings

- The decision matrix process provides a flexible mechanism for making and documenting tree-related decisions on farm
- Shelterbelt and agroforestry literature give very different pictures of the production impacts and may lead to some of the confusion about the impacts of trees on farm
- The database provides information on many types of co-benefits in one place and eases identification of knowledge gaps such as impacts of trees on cattle.
- The complexity of the decisions, abundance of information of varying quality, and differing knowledge, priorities, and comfort with risk of farmers necessitates a broader framework to assist with tree-related decision making and implementation on farm.

## 5.2 Benefits to industry

The centralisation of co-benefit data into one place allows for quick access to information for multiple purposes, including use in conjunction with the matrices to assist with decision making and assisting MLA and other organisations needing to showcase the characteristics of farm trees that improve farm operations. This information will be incorporated into the CarbonEDGE package currently being developed as part of the Carbon Storage Partnership and other outreach material. These outputs are directly applicable to achieving the CN30 goal.

## 6. Future research and recommendations

The primary requirement following from this work is a broader decision framework that is accessible and applicable to most farmers. This will be developed, tested, and disseminated as part of Module 4 of the Carbon Storage Partnership.

The various aspects of Phase 1 that will be incorporated into this work and the expected delivery times are outlined below:

- 1) The publicly available version of the Excel database will be available by mid-January 2022.
- 2) At least one interview that will generate a Tasmanian example of the decision matrix is scheduled to occur in February 2022. We are recruiting for another in the same timeframe.
- 3) Additions to the database including data obtained from Phase 2 farmer interviews, new literature that is published on the topic, and co-benefit information that remains to be entered will occur in the first half of 2022 and will align with the timing of #4.
- 4) The web-based front end of the database will be developed during semester 1 with an expected completion mid-2022.
- 5) The draft decision framework is a Phase 2 output and will be ready for feedback by the second half of 2022.
- 6) Throughout 2022 awareness of the database, the decision matrices and later, the larger decision framework, will be raised through circulation of summaries in industry publications and extension opportunities identified through researcher networks and including the CSP.

# 7. References

Bird, P. R., Kellas, J. D., and Jackson, T. T. 2010. Pinus radiata and sheep production in silvopastoral systems at Carngham, Victoria, Australia. *Agroforestry Systems*. 78(3):203-216.

Campbell, A. 1991. Planning for Sustainable Farming: The Potter Farmland Plan Story. Lothian Books.

Hall, R. 2010. Agricultural Greenhouse Gas Emissions Audits. AK Consultants report prepared for Private Forests Tasmania.

Harper R. J., Okom, A.E.A., Stilwell A.T. et al. 2012. Reforesting degraded agricultural landscapes with Eucalypts: Effects on carbon storage and soil fertility after 26 years. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*. 163:3-13.

Nicholson, Cam; Long, Jeanette; England, Danielle, Long, Bill, Creelman, Zoe; Mudge, Barry; Cornish, David 2015, 'Farm Decision Making: The interaction of personality, farm business and risk to make more informed decisions', Grains Research & Development Corporation. Kingston ACT. https://grdc.com.au/farm-decision-

making?utm\_source=website&utm\_medium=short\_url&utm\_term=National&utm\_content=Farm%2\_0decision%20making

# 8. Appendix

### 8.1 Decision matrix instruction materials

#### By Cam Nicolson

This is also outlined in a <u>video on YouTube</u>. You can also walk through the process using an online tool at <u>https://decisionwizard.sfs.org.au/matrices#/dashboard</u>. This website contains examples of previous tree related decisions that may assist with any of the following steps.

1. **Identify the decision** you want to make. For instance, Should I establish an environmental planting along the creek? Or How many hectares of timber belts should I plant for shelter and harvest?

2. List the **big considerations** you know should influence the decisions. These become your critical success factors. Usually there are only 4 to 8 critical success factors, the rest will be 'noise'. A list of several possibilities for varying types of decisions are included in the example matrices. Select factors that are critical to your decision making and add any that are not included. Examples that you may want to consider are listed on the next page.

3. Take each big consideration (critical success factor) and ask "at what point would I think a bit differently about my decision"? This will split each critical success factor into two or more **conditions**. Repeat for each critical success factor.

4. Once all critical success factors have conditions described, **assign scores**. Tip - assign all the lowest conditions as 0. Then consider the highest described condition and give them a score relative to the other highest conditions. i.e. if you decide the highest condition in critical success factor 1 is twice as critical as the highest condition in critical success factor 2, then the first needs twice the points. Once the top and bottom are established, it is relatively easy to fill in the remaining condition scores.

5. Calculate the maximum score if all conditions were at their highest.

6. Describe the **key decision** you would make under the maximum possible score and the worst possible score (which should be 0). Then, if applicable, fill in a couple of possible decisions you could make in between the two extremes. Don't create too many as this can confuse the decision you need to make.

7. Think of an **extreme historic example** (usually a year, season or known scenario) calculate the score for that example *at the time the decision needed to be made*. Using hindsight, what was the appropriate response for that set of circumstances. Use this to inform a key decision score for that extreme. Repeat with another extreme, but opposite example. Then estimate the scores in between the extremes.

8. Test with a series of **more recent examples** (so you get a combined score) and fine tune the score within each big consideration if required.

Critical consideration	Comments			
Location	ls it:			
	• On a boundary fence (biosecurity benefit of double fence,			
	privacy, title)			
	<ul> <li>Degraded land – erosion, salinity, waterlogged etc</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Protected land e.g. waterway, riparian zone</li> </ul>			
	On a paddock boundary			
	In the middle of a paddock			
	Scattered paddock trees			
	<ul> <li>Reducing watertables (salinity recharge)</li> </ul>			
Establishment method	<ul> <li>Mechanical site preparation or planting into uncultivated soil</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Chemical weed control or non-chemical (e.g., weed mats)</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Tubestock or direct seeding</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Tree guards, watering?</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Time of year – autumn, winter, spring?</li> </ul>			
Species selection	Considerations			
(characteristics)	<ul> <li>Local to area, other Australian native species, exotic?</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Suitable for predicted future climate?</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>Lifespan, time it will take to see the benefits</li> </ul>			
	Used for timber			
	Used for carbon sequestration			
	<ul> <li>Height around structures e.g. powerlines</li> </ul>			
	Suitability for windbreak			
	Attract birds / insects			
Planting design	<ul> <li>Layout – block, linear, etc</li> </ul>			
	Single species or species mixture			
	Species arrangement of mixed species planting			
	Plant spacing			
	Will it create pest habitat			
Costs	Paid out of business profits			
	Tax incentives (e.g., immediate deductions for costs of shelterbelts)			
	Fencing (linear layouts have higher fence cost per area planted)			
	• Labour assistance through community programs e.g. landmate			
	• Labour assistance through community programs e.g. landmate,			
Loss of agricultural	Direct.			
land	<ul> <li>Loss of grazing or cropping area (dimensions)</li> </ul>			
	Indirect:			
	change pasture and crop yield because of moisture competition			
	shading			
	<ul> <li>stock 'camp' in lee of trees = change pasture composition. high</li> </ul>			
	fertility weeds, nutrient transfer			
	<ul> <li>linear layouts provide greater shelter benefit but increase the</li> </ul>			
	length of tree / pasture interface			

Time to see benefits Will take time to accrue benefits so need a long term view			
Time to see benefits	will take time to accrue benefits so need a long term view		
	Establish over one or two seasons or spread over a number of years?		
Animal welfare	Shelter from wind (lamb survival, off shears)		
	Shade (heat stress)		
People welfare	Nicer place to operate (reduced wind)		
	Visual aesthetics		
	Social licence to farm (foil against criticism, access to markets		
	demanding greater environmental credentials)		
	Build relationships with local community by designing tree planting		
	projects across properties to increase landscape connectivity		
Influence on capital	Adds to resale		
value	Loss of views reduces sale value		
Fire risk	Species resilience to fire		

## 8.2 Literature included in the initial version of the database

- 1. Allen D.E., Mendham D.S., Bhupinderpal-Singh, Cowie A., Wang W., Dalal R.C., Raison R.J. 2009. Nitrous oxide and methane emissions from soil are reduced following afforestation of pasture lands in three contrasting climatic zones. *Australian Journal of Soil Research*
- 2. Anderson, Batini. 1979. Clover and crop production under 13- to 15- year-old Pinus radiata. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 3. Anderson, Batini. 1983. Pasture, sheep and timber production from agro-forestry systems with subterranean clover sown under 15-year-old Pinus radiata by a method simulating aerial seeding. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture and Animal Husbandry*
- 4. Anderson, G.W., Moore, R.W. and Jenkins, P.J.. 1988 The integration of pasture, livestock, and widely spaced pine in South West Western Australia *Agroforesty Systems*
- 5. Anderson, Moore. 1987. Productivity in the first seven years of a Pinus radiata-annual pasture agroforest in Western Australia. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 6. Arnold G.W. 2003 Bird species richness and abundance in wandoo woodland and in tree plantations on farmland at Baker's Hill, Western Australia. *Emu Austral Ornithology*
- 7. Bennell M.R., Verbyla A.P. 2008. Quantifying the response of crops to shelter in the agricultural regions of South Australia. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*
- 8. Bicknell, David 1991. The role of trees in providing shelter and controlling erosion in the dry temperate and semi-arid southern agricultural areas of Western Australia. *Role of Trees in Sustainable Agriculture National Conference*, National Agroforestry Working Group, Albury, New South Wales, 30 September 3 October.
- 9. Bird, P.R. 1981. Benefits of Tree Planting in southwest Victoria. *Trees and Victoria's Resources*
- Bird, P. R. 1984. The Effect of Trees on Agricultural Productivity Focus on Farm Trees (Ed.): Alice Hofler University of New England. *The decline of trees in the rural landscape*. Proceedings of the 2nd National Conference on the Decline of trees in the Rural Landscape. 14-16 May 1984
- 11. Bird, P. R. 1990. Sheltering the farm an economic assessment of trees. *Rural Quarterly*
- 12. Bird, P.R. 1991. Tree and Shelter Effect on Agricultural Production in Southern Australia. *Agricultural Science*

- 13. Bird et al. 2007. The effect of windbreak structure on shelter characteristics. *Australian Journal* of *Experimental Agriculture*
- 14. Bird, P.R and Cayley, J 1991. Bad weather, shelter, and stock losses. Agroforestry
- 15. Bird, P. R. et al 1992. The role of shelter in Australia for protecting soils plants and livestock. *Agroforestry Systems*
- 16. Bird, P.R., Kellas, J.D., Kearney, G.A. and Cumming, K.N., 1995. Animal production under a series of Pinus radiata-pasture agroforestry systems in South-West Victoria, Australia. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research
- 17. Bird, P. R.; J. D. Kellas, T. T. Jackson. 2010. Pinus radiata and sheep production in silvopastoral systems at Carngham, Victoria, Australia. *Agroforestry Systems*
- 18. Brooksbank, K; Veneklaas, White, D.A., and Carter, J. L. 2011. Water availability determines hydrological impacts of tree belts in dryland cropping systems. *Agricultural Water Management*
- Burke, S 1991. Effect of shelterbelts on crop yields at Rutherglen, Victoria. Role of Trees in Sustainable Agriculture National Conference, National Agroforestry Worlung Group, Albury, New South Wales, 30 September - 3 October.
- 20. Buttler, Danny. 2012. Trees Benefit Sale Dairy Farm. Factsheet
- 21. Campbell, A. 1991. *Planning for Sustainable Farming: The Potter Farmland Plan Story*. Lothian Books
- 22. Cleugh and Hughes. 2002. Impact of shelter on crop microclimates: a synthesis of results from wind tunnel and field experiments. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 23. Cleugh et al. 2002. The Australian National Windbreaks Program: overview and summary of results. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 24. Cunningham, S. et al. 2015. Reforestation with native mixed-species plantings in a temperate continental climate effectively sequesters and stabilizes carbon within decades. *Global Change Biology*
- 25. de Koning, C., Kitessa, S.M., Barekatain, R., and Drake, K.. 2019. Determination of range enrichment for improved hen welfare on commercial fixed-range free-range layer farms. *Animal Production Science*
- 26. Doran-Browne, Natalie; Ive, John, Graham, Phillip, Eckard, Richard. 2016. Carbon-neutral wool farming in south-eastern Australia. *Animal Production Science*
- 27. Doran-Browne, Natalie; Wootton, Mark; Taylor, Chirs; Eckard, Richard. 2018. Offsets required to reduce the carbon balance of sheep and beef through carbon sequestration in trees and soils. *Animal Production Science*
- 28. Egan et al. 1972. The importance of shelter in reducing neonatal lamb deaths. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture and Animal Husbandry*
- 29. England, JR, Paul, KI, Cunningham, SC, Madhavan, DB, Baker, TG, Read, Z, Wilson, BR, Cavagnaro, TR, Lewis, T, Perring, MP, Herrmann, T, Polglase, PJ. 2016. Previous land use and climate influence differences in soil organic carbon following reforestation of agricultural land with mixed-species plantings. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment
- 30. Farrant, Mick. 2017. Tree belts for shade and shelter on an irrigated dairy farm. Factsheet
- 31. Ferguson, I.S. and Reilly, J.J. 1978. The economics of joint agriculture/ forestry enterprises. In Howes, K.M.W. and R.A. Rummery (eds), Integrating Agriculture and Forestry, CSIRO Perth.
- 32. Garland, K.R., Fisher, W.W., Greig, P.J. 1984. Agro forestry in Victoria Technical report series no. 93

- *33.* George, R.J.. 1990. Reclaiming sandplain seeps by intercepting perched groundwater with Eucalypts. *Land Degradation and Rehabilitation*
- 34. Geytenbeek, P.E. 1963. A survey of post-shearing losses due to adverse weather conditions. Experimental Record
- 35. Gisz, P and N.L. Sar. 1980. Economic Evaluation of an Agroforestry Project Misc Bulletin #33
- 36. Graham, S., Wilson, B.R., Reid, N., and Jones, H. 2004. Scatttered paddock trees, litter chemistry, and surface soil properties in pastures of the New England Tablelands, New South Wales. Australian Journal of Soil Research
- Greenwood, E.A.N., Biddiscombe, E.F., Rogers, A,L., Beresford, J.D., and Watson, G.D. 1995.
   Growth of species in a tree plantation and its influence on salinity and groundwater in the 400mm rainfall region of south-western Australia. Agricultural Water Management
- 38. Greenwood, E.A.N., Biddiscombe, E.F., Rogers, A.L., Beresford, J.D., and Watson, G.D. 1994. The influence on groundwater levels and salinity of a mulit-specied tree plantation in the 500mm rainfall region of south-western Australia. *Agricultural Water Management*
- 39. Hale et al. 2015Bird responses to riparian management of degraded lowland streams in<br/>southeastern AustraliaRestoration Ecology
- 40. Hall et al. 1972. Chapter 11: Shade and Shelter on the Farm. In: The Use of Trees and Shrubs in the Dry Country of Australia
- 41. Hall, Ruth. 2010. Agricultural Greenhouse Gas Emissions Audits. Report prepared for Private Forest Tasmania
- 42. Harper et al. 2012. Reforesting degraded agriculutral landscapes with Eucalyptus: Effects on carbon storage and soil fertility after 26 years. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*
- 43. Harper, RJ; Beck, AC; Ritson, P; Hill, MJ; Mitchell, CD; Barrett, DJ; Smettem, KRJ; Mann, SS. 2007. The potential of greenhouse sinks to underwrite improved land management. *Ecological Engineering*.
- 44. Harper, RJ; Smettem, KRJ; Tomlinson, R. J. 2005. Using soil and climatic data to estimate the performance of trees, carbon sequestration and recharge potential at the catchment scale. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 45. Hobbs, RJ. 2013. Nature and Farmiing: Sustaining native biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. CSIRO publishing
- 46. Hoogmoed M., Cunningham S.C., Baker P.J., Beringer J., Cavagnaro T.R. 2016. Effects of wetting frequency and afforestation on carbon, nitrogen and the microbial community in soil. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*
- 47. Hulvey et al . 2013. Benefits of tree mixes in carbon plantings. Nature Climate Change
- 48. Jones H.R., Sudmeyer R.A. 2002. Economic assessment of windbreaks on the south-eastern coast of Western Australia. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 49. Jordon, M. W. et al . 2020. Implications of Temperate Agroforestry on Sheep and Cattle Productivity, Environmental Impacts and Enterprise Economics. A systematic Evidence Map. *Forests*
- 50. Kasel et al. 2011. Species-specific effects of native trees on soil organic carbon in biodiverse plantings across north-central Victoria, Australia. *Geoderma*
- *51.* Kavanagh, R & Stanton M. 2012. Koalas use young Eucalyptus plantations in an agricultural landscape on the Liverpool Plains, New South Wales. *Ecological Management & Restoration*

- 52. Kellas, J.D., Bird, P.R., Cumming, K.N., Kearney, G.A. and Ashton, A.K., 1995. Pasture production under a series of Pinus radiata-pasture agroforestry systems in south-west Victoria, Australia. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*
- 53. Learmouth, JB and Rabbette, JG 1978. The economics of Agroforestry: a preliminary analysis. Integrated agriculture and forestry
- 54. Livesley, SJ; Kiese, R; Miehle, P; Weston, CJ; Butterbach-Bahl, K; Arndt, SK. 2009. Soilatmosphere exchange of greenhouse gases in a Eucalyptus marginata woodland, a clover-grass pasture, and Pinus radiata and Eucalyptus globulus plantations. Global Change Biology.
- 55. Lumsden, Linda F. 2004. The Ecology and Conservation of Insectivorous Bats in Rural Landscapes PhD thesis.
- 56. Malajczuk G., Moore R., Anderson G. 1996. The economics of agroforestry with pine and pasture in the 500 to 700 mm annual rainfall zone of Western Australia. *Agroforestry Systems*
- 57. McHenry M.T., Wilson B.R., Lemon J.M., Donnelly D.E., Growns I.G. 2006. Soil and vegetation response to thinning White Cypress Pine (Callitris glaucophylla) on the North Western Slopes of New South Wales, Australia. *Plant and Soil*
- McHenry, MT; Wilson, BR; Lockwood, PV; Guppy, CN; Sindel, BM; Tighe, MK; Growns, IO; Lemon, JM. 2009. The impact of individual Callitris glaucophylla (white cypress pine) trees on agricultural soils and pastures of the north-western slopes of NSW, Australia. *Rangeland Journal*
- 59. Miles, C.A, Lockwood, M, Walpole, S, Buckley, E. 1998. Assessment of the on-farm economic values of remnant native vegetation. Johnstone Centre Report No 107
- 60. Moore, S.A. and Renton, S. 2002. Remnant vegetation, landholders' values and information needs: An exploratory study on the West Australian wheatbelt. *Ecological Management and Restoration*
- 61. Neary, D.G., Smethurst, P.J., Baillie, B.R., Petrone, K.C., Cotching, W.E., and Baillie, C.C 2010. Does tree harvesting in streamside management zones adversely affect stream turbidity? preliminary observations from an Australian case study. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*
- 62. Noorduijn, S.L., Smettem, K.R.J., Vogwill, R., and Ghadouani, A. 2009. Relative impacts of key drivers on the response of the water table to a major alley farming experiment. *Hydrology and Earth Systems Sciences*
- 63. Oliver, I., Pearce, S., Greenslade, P.J.M., and Britton, D.R. 2006. Contribution of paddock trees to the conservation of terrestrial invertebrate biodiversity within grazed native pastures. *Austral Ecology*
- 64. Oliver, YM; Lefroy, EC; Stirzaker, R; Davies, CL. 2005. Deep-drainage control and yield: the tradeoff between trees and crops in agroforestry systems in the medium to low rainfall areas of Australia. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research
- 65. Ouin, A., Holland, G.j., Tessier, M., Clarke, R.H., and Bennett, A.F. 2021 Do butterfly communities benefit from woodland restoration n rural environments? A landscape perspective from south-eastern Australia. *Restoration Ecology*
- 66. Paul, KI, Cunningham, SC, England, JR, Roxburgh, SH, Preece, ND, Lewis, T, Brooksbank, K, Crawford, DF, Polglase, PJ. 2016. Managing reforestation to sequester carbon, increase biodiversity potential and minimize loss of agricultural land. *Land Use Policy*
- 67. Paul, KI, Reeson, A, Polglase, P, Crossman, N, Freudenberger, D, Hawkins, C. 2013. Economic and employment implications of a carbon market for integrated farm forestry and biodiverse environmental plantings. *Land Use Policy*

- 68. Radcliffe, J.E. 1985. Shelterbelt increases dryland pasture growth in Canterbury. Proceedings of the New Zealand Grassland Association
- 69. Regan C.M., Connor J.D., Summers D.M., Settre C., O'Connor P.J., Cavagnaro T.R.
   2020. The influence of crediting and permanence periods on Australian forest-based carbon offset supply.
   Land Use Policy
- 70. Reid, R. and Burk, L. 2004. A Web of Trees: Reconnecting the landscape and the community, the Yan Yan Gurt creek story. Otway Agroforestry Network
- 71. Robinson, N., Harper, R.J., and Smettem, K.R.J. 2006. Soil water depletion by Eucalyptus spp. integrated into dryland agricultural systems. *Plant and Soil*
- 72. Shea, S, Butcher, G, Ritson, P, Bartle, J, Biggs, P, 1998. The potential for tree crops and vegetation rehabilitation to sequester carbon in Western Australia Carbon Sequestration Conference, Melbourne.
- 73. Sherren, K., Fischer, J., and Price, R. 2010. Using photography to elicit grazier values and management practices relating to tree survival and recruitment. *Land Use Policy*
- 74. Silberstein, R.P., McJannet, D.L., and Vertessy, R.A. 1999. Trees on hills, better growth = less waterlogging. *Catchment Hydrology*
- 75. Sinnett, Behrendt, Ho, Malcolm. 2016. The carbon credits and economic return of environmental plantings on a prime lamb property in south eastern Australia. *Land Use Policy*
- 76. SMF Rabbi, BR Wilson, PV Lockwood, H Daniel, IM Young. 2014. Soil organic carbon mineralization rates in aggregates under contrasting land uses. *Geoderma*
- 77. Smith, P.F. 2009. Bird activity in oil mallee plantings in the wheatbelt of Western Australia. *Ecological management and Restoration*
- 78. Specht A., West P.W. 2003. Estimation of biomass and sequestered carbon on farm forest plantations in northern New South Wales, Australia. *Biomass and Bioenergy*
- 79. Sturrock JW. 1981. Shelter boosts crop yield by 35% also prevents lodging. *New Zealand Journal of Agriculture*
- 80. Sudmeyer R., Flugge F. 2005. The economics of managing tree-crop competition in windbreak and alley systems. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 81. Sudmeyer R.A., Daniels T., Jones H., Huxtable D. 2012. The extent and cost of mallee crop competition in unharvested carbon sequestration and harvested mallee biomass agroforestry systems. *Crop and Pasture Science*
- 82. Sudmeyer, RA J Speijers. 2007. Influence of windbreak orientation, shade and rainfall interception on wheat and lupin growth in the absence of below-ground competition. *Agroforestry Systems*
- 83. Sudmeyer, RA; DJM Hall, J Eastham, MA Adams. 2002. The tree–crop interface: the effects of root pruning in south-western Australia. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 84. Sudmeyer, RA; Adams, MA; Eastham, J; Scott, PR; Hawkins, W; Rowland, I. C. 2002. Broadacre crop yield in the lee of windbreaks in the medium and low rainfall areas of south-western Australia. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- Sudmeyer, RA; Hall, DJM. 2015. Competition for water between annual crops and short rotation mallee in dry climate agroforestry: The case for crop segregation rather than integration. Biomass & Bioenergy
- 86. Sudmeyer, RA; PR Scott. 2002. Characterisation of a windbreak system on the south coast of Western Australia. 2. Crop growth. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*

- 87. Tree Alliance. 2020. Case Study 03. Agroforestry Woorak Epping Forest, Northern Midlands. Private Forests Tasmania Factsheet
- 88. Tree Alliance. 2020. Case Study 05. Agroforestry Formosa Cressy Road, Cressy. Shelter increased pasture production by 30%. Private Forests Tasmania Factsheet
- 89. Tree Alliance. 2020. Case Study 06. Agroforestry: Trees reduce paddock water loss (evaporation). Private Forests Tasmania Factsheet
- 90. Tree Alliance. 2021. The economic return on strategically planting trees on farms is obvious to this nationally recognised property. Private Forests Tasmania Factsheet.
- 91. Tsitsilas, Stuckey, Hoffmann, Weeks, Thomson. 2006. Shelterbelts in Agricultural Landscapes Suppress Invertebrate Pests. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*
- 92. Unkovich, M; Blott, K; Knight, A; Mock, I; Rab, A; Portelli, M. 2003. Water use, competition, and crop production in low rainfall, alley farming systems of south-eastern Australia. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research
- 93. Walpole, S. C. 1999. Assessment of the economic and ecological impacts of remnant vegetation on pasture productivity. *Pacific Conservation Biology*
- 94. Walsh P.G., Barton C.V.M., Haywood A. 2008. Growth and carbon sequestration rates at age ten years of some eucalypt species in the low-to medium-rainfall areas of New South Wales, Australia. *Australian Forestry*
- 95. Ward P.R., Micin S.F., Fillery I.R.P. 2012. Application of eddy covariance to determine ecosystem-scale carbon balance and evapotranspiration in an agroforestry system. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*
- 96. Wilson, S.M. et al. 1995. Trees on Farms: Survey of trees on Australian Farms: 1993-1994. ABARE Research Report 95.7
- 97. Wochesländer, Harper, Sochacki, Wardb, Revell. 2016. Tagasaste (Cytisus proliferus Link.) reforestation as an option for carbon mitigation in dryland farming systems. *Ecological Engineering*

# 8.3 Example Decision Matrices

#### Livestock-cropping system near Hamilton

#### Decision: Do I plant trees in this location?

Critical factors	Considerations	Value	
	Provides shelter from critical directions (Sth, east wind) - diversity of		
	height, shape and lifespan & width, big enough to provide corridors but	8	
Shelter provided (for people and	no detremental effects within paddock.		
stock)	Some benefits but also some compromises	4	
	Doesn't provide key benefits (long term shelter, survival - die out, suck	0	
	water out of paddock, too narrow etc).		
	High - Indigenous to area, has a mix of species and age, can use for		
Aesthetic value derived from the	recreation (pleasure, enjoyment).	8	
trees	Moderate - Not indigenous, the plantation will 'look out of place'.	2	
	None - monoculture, harbours weeds.	0	
Contributes to business aim of 10%	Planting will contribute to objective (trees may produce also produce	0	
tree cover on arable parts of farm	income)	8	
(excluding woodlot trees)	Have reached current 10% aim - have shelter everywhere we want it.	0	
Environmental impact   hanefit to			
Environmental impact - benefit to		8	
landscape (replace tree loss,	Addresses major environmental impacts at or near that location		
erosion on creek banks, decline of	Get some value but not all environmental concerns solved	5	
remnants)	Limited or no impact of environmental challenges	0	
Orientation and size of plantation	Wouldn't have any impact on future in paddock operations (planation	6	
in neddeck	location wouldn't affect boom width, parallel operation of machinery)		
працоск	Some impact / hassles but can get around it (accept it)	4	
	Major impact on future paddock use (dimension for machinery use)	0	
	Location will support indigenous, native specis that provide strong		
	environmental value, have little impact within paddock and provide	5	
Species selection	possible income		
	Location would only support non indigenous, non native species, with	0	
	little environmental benefit e.g. pines	0	
	Trees have no impact on paddock productivity (robbing moisture from	-	
Impact of trees from plantation to	paddock), allow wind for paddock to dry out	5	
adjacent paddocks	Significant impacts - moisture loss or location will prevent wind, making		
	the paddock wetter in winter	0	
	High - can prune for good trees, using the thinnings for firewood, then		
	30 yr saw logs with grass understory (grazing)	4	
Opportunity for alternative income	Moderate - some firewood, not much else	1	
	None - trees with no 'value' - not even firewood	0	
<u></u>		52	

Creek	Pines	50ha pdk	Dam planting
Historic	scenarios	Future s	cenarios
Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 1	Scenario 2
8	4	8	8
8	2	8	8
8	8	8	8
8	0	5	8
6	6	6	4
5	0	5	5
5	5	5	5
1	4	1	1
49	29	46	47

Decision		Score	
Yes plant trees h	ere	> 36	
No don't pl	ant	36 or less	

#### Mixed livestock system near Hamilton

#### Decis >n: Do I plant trees (at this location)

Critical factor	Considerations	Value	
	High - Matches whole farm plan, providing shelter and shade, along		
	with other values and objectives of farm business	8	
Contribution to whole farm goals	Provides some benefits to the overall farm objectives	4	
	Low - Little contribution to overall farm objectives	0	
	Low - Choices / effort around planning and preparation is easy	7	
Headspace required to plan and	Some challenges but can be overcome	3.5	
execute the project	Real challenge to organise what is required (e.g.tree supply,		
	provenance, diversity, sorting out conflicting information)	0	
	High - Location enables maximum carbon storage per tree, per	7	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	hectare because of soil type, water etc	/	
Capacity to sequester carbon (act	Provides some carbon storage potential	3.5	
as a carbon sink)	Low - Provides minimal carbon sequestration (poor growing		
	environment for trees)	0	
	High - Matches well with existing or new fencing on the farm (shared		
	fencing benefits)	/	
Efficiency' with exisiting and	Matches with other benefits but over time (eventually) - will when		
planned fences on the farm	future sub division, land class fencing, erosion control, water	3.5	
(paddock sub division, landclass)	management is implemented		
	Low - it is a stand alone tree project, so fencing for trees only	0	
	Low - inherent limitation for cropping and grazing	7	
Productivity of the land	Moderate - Other productive land use possible	3	
	High - Other productive land uses	0	
	High - Increases native fauna (as result of native flora creating an	7	
Impact on enhancing biodiversity	Limited increase in biodiversity but other benefits gained (shelter,	6	
	shade, firewood etc),		
	Low - Creates a monoculture	0	
Enhances long term 'sustainability'	High - Planting will 'suit' the landscape, through the type and structure of the trees planted, capacity to regenerate from fire etc	5	
aligns to pre-European settlement	Might be a bit out of place, but provides other benefits (environmental protection, diversity income stream)	2.5	
landscape)	Low - Plantation out of place	0	
	Trees a 'good' investment (value of benefits are high for the time, \$\$ spent)	6	
Competition for resources with	Trees on a par with other choices	3	
other possible investments	Other technology or approaches are more cost effective than trees to achieve the objective of the planting (e.g drainage rather than trees to remove excess water)	0	
	Hales to reduce fire threat (protects major infrastructure alours		
	speed of fire front)	4	
Impact on fire risk	No effect on fire	2	
	Increases fire risk (too close to infrastructure, contains flamable species)	0	
		50	

Past example	Past example	Future example
Extending the existing 40yr old plantation	8	Planting for erosion control
As above	6	Planning wetland and associated trees
As above	7	Planting out as per WFP
As above	7	Boundary fence against neighbours with bluegums to be harvested & the fence needs fixing anyway
As above	6	wetland
As above	7	planting trees around weaner yards
Improved fencing around covenant area	5	Extending fencing from covenant block
Subdivided/invested in Farmo instead of planting trees	1	Putting in wetland that may not include trees initially
Extending the existing 40yr old plantation	3	planting trees around weaner yards
0	50	0

0	46.5
lanting trees around weaner yards	1.5
ting in wetland that may not include trees initially	1
ending fencing from covenant block	5
lanting trees around weaner yards	6
wetland	7
Indary fence against neighbours with legums to be harvested & the fence needs fixing anyway	7

Future example

8

4

7

Decision	Score
<b>Yes</b> , plant trees	Greater
No, don't plant trees	40 or